‘ /

YZe272 27 /i

STARTI.:

cw
——t
e

o e
i :
' —
A

,

[

3



o

o TR 1 S Aot 4 P ek 0 SRS

-:TNDEX ;=
{ Direct  Cross’

William Henry Houghton, 6 51




if OF GENERAL SESSTONS OF THE PEACE,
BTTY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK,

THE PEOPLR,

PART T.
RRPRRE A ——— . x
vs. : Before:
HON. OTTO A. ROSALSKY, J.,
HARRY BURGESS. : and a Jury. b
- - “rX

ASST. DISTRICT ATTORNEY EMORY R. BUCKMER, for the People.

ALEXANDER S, ROSENTHAL, ESQ., for the Defense.

Tried, New York, April 26th,etc.,1911.

Tndicted for Gaminghouse, etc.

Indictment fikd March 18th, 1911.

Appearance s

(A jury was impaneled and sworn).

Prank S. Beard,
Official Stenographer.

L]



w» SN N1

OPENTNG FOR T HE - PEOPLE : ‘
-of- 2
ASSTSTANT D] STRICT ATTORNEY mml R. wm
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Mr, Poreman and Gentlemen of the Jury: The Aom'
18 indicted under various different count- with the crime
of gambling,. There are eight counts in the 1nuotncnt,ll:t,f‘ ‘
at the proper time, the Court will explain all these counts
to you, at which time, of course, you will listen v‘ry care~ .' -k
fully, and then you will exactly understand under what part=

icular counts the defendant should be held.

The case is really simple on the question of facts, and

it ought not to take a great vhile to put in.

The evidence will show that a young man nmod Mm.
whom you have heard of during the informal oxm&nquon’ of
some of the jurors == ‘

MR .ROSENTHAL: At this time, T ask ﬂ;at all the wit~
nesses be excluded from the court=room, until called.

THE COURT: The witnesses on both sides?

MR. ROSENTHAL: Yes, sir, on both sides.

THE COURT: T make that order.

MR, BUCKNER: This man, William H, Koughtoﬁ, was
employed by Deputy Police Commissioner ¥Flynn for t he ‘W!'-

] pose of investjp:u ing various gan‘biing houses, .ﬂ‘ tQ! m
purpose of r»por‘lng the facts =-- not ntoollﬂ‘ll’ f& m

purpose of ge*ting evidence, but of reporting the th ;
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Houghton will tell you that he is not a squealer, be-
cause he has never 1lost any money in gambling, and never
had anything to do with it except in this matter, 1 think,
of enpléyment,,by Commi ssfoner Flynn.

MR. ROSENTHAL: One moment. T submit that those :
witnesses who are standing in that doorway (indicating the
door of the side room of the court) are the 'vory.'itncmo
that T want ed excluded. T am sorry to Ainterrupt.

THE COURT: Yes, close that side door, the door of
the side room.

MR, BUCKNER: Houghton will tell you that he was em~
ployed by Deputy Commi ssioner Flynn for the purpose of in~
vestigating, and ascertaining what the facts were u to ;
various houses in the city of New York, and that, in the
course of that investigation, he went to the place at 1542 :
Broadway, not once, or twice, or three times, but five
times; and that; on each of those occasions, he saw the de-
fendant, Harry Burgess, aiding and abetting and assisting
in the operation of a gambling game known as crap, in that,
during the operation of the game, 1t was his particular job
to rake the dice back in each instance, and throw them back
to the man who was throwing them, and that, in brief, in
gambling parlance, with which you may not b§ familiar, he
was acting as what 18 called f'The crap raker;" and that

he saw him doing that on five different days.
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Tn addition to the testimony of the witness Houghton,
however, we will put on the stand a regular police ofnou'-
of f..he city of New York, a young man named Carlson, a
patrolman of police, not long on the force, and who was not
known ﬁo the defendant, or to men of his sort, and who Y-
was sent by Commi esioner Flynn to various places, ind‘wln
will tell you that he went to 1542 Broadway, on five dif-
ferent occasions, and only part of those occasions were thi :
same as the other five occuioni on which Houghton went
there. So that we shall have a total of at least seven
or eight different occasions when either one or both of
these men were in the premises at 1542 Broadway. ;

And Cgrison, the regular patrolman, will you tell you
that every time he was in those premi ses he saw My
Burgess performing his function as a crap raker at a table
where the game of crap was going on; and both men will
testify that they saw others gambling thére, and that they
were gambling there @der the instructions of their super=
jor officer, with the public money t;uppliad to them for
that purpose.

And the arresting officer will you tell you that, on
the day of what is corpmonly called the raid, or on the day
of the arrest, when the officer, with some u-iitmta,
went there, and they forced their way into the premises

at 1542 Broadway with axes and crowbars, this man Harry

‘
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Dm;gou was present in the room, where, on that icry day, he
had been engaged in the work of a cr@ raker. ‘ ‘
By to-morrow, at least, we will have the crap table
and other property which were taken right there in the

premi ses,down here, to show you.




THE PEOPLE'S TESTINONY,

WILLTAX¥ HENRY HOUGHTOHN, of 475-A Lexing-
ton avenue, Brooklyn, a witness called on behalf of the
People, being duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER:

Q How old are you, Houghton? A Thirty years.

Q TNow the great difficulty with you, Houghton, will be to
talk so that you can be heard by Mr. 0'Dowd, over there, (in-
dicating the twelfth juror). Now you must speak up. What
are you doing now for a living?

MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to that, if your Honor please.

Tt has no bearing on this case what this witness 18 now

doing for a living.

THE COURT: Onrruied.
MR. ROSENT HAL: Exception.

A T am enmployed by the Second Deputy Commi ssioner ¥Flynn, as in-

vestigator. - : .

Q How long have you been so qnployed? A Since Decenber

5th, 1910.

Q What do you get a day? )

MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to it, if your Honor ple.ﬁo,
as not binding on the defendant.

| THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. ROSENTHAL: Exception.




A Tﬁree dollars a day. v !
WR, ROSENTHAL: And T further object to the term
_Mnvestigator", on the ground that there 1l‘no_lu‘o'h term
in the English language as timt term. ‘
TH#¥ COURT: Overruled.
MR. ROSENTHAL: Rxception.
BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q T8 your pay in any way dependent upon the results of the
cases in vhich.you testify?
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to the question, if yonrv
Honor please,
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. RUCKNER.:
Q Before you began working for Comm ssioner Flynnm, ‘'what
was your business?
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to the question, if your
Honor please,
THE COURT: Overruled,
MR. ROSENTHAL: EBxception. /
A Tnvestigator.

BY MR . BUCKNER :

Q For whom? A The Wine & Spirits Traders' Society,

78 Broad street, New York.

Q Do you know this defendant, Hu‘rj Burgesas? A Yes,
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Q How long have you known him? A The first time T
- saw him wuﬁ on December 13th, 1910, .

Q Where did‘youlee him? A 1542 Broadway.

Q0 YNew York ®ounty? A YNew York County.

Q What sort of premises are at that number? Tell us
whether it 18 a store, or .hou se, or theatre, or what is 1t?
A One flight up was a billiard parlor,

Q Well, what sort of a bpilding is it; do you remember?
A T could describe the building. -

Q Then describe it? A On the ground floor was stores.
You went up one flight, and there was a large billiard parlor,
with a bar. And you went up from the billiard parloer a iboft
flight of stairs . to a balcony, and on this bal.conyh was stationed
a man.

MR, ROSENTHAL: T object, and T move to: strike out
the terms that there was a man stationed on the balcony,
as not binding on the defendant.

MR. RUCKNER: T consent that the word "stationed"
.be stricken out,

THE COURT: Strike it out.

BY MR. RUCKNER:
l Q Well, there was a man there, we will say? A Yes,
sir.
Q Had you ever been to thﬂ pramdléu 1542 Broadway before

‘this date? A The date of my talking to --




9
MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to that as immaterial, ire

relevant and incompetent, whether he had ever been there

before the date in the indictment.
THE COURT: Overruled,
MR, ROSENTHAL: Excepdon.

BY MR. RUCKNER:

Q When did you first see the defendant there? AT

first saw the de fendant on Decerber 1l3th. T didn't say it was
the first time 7 had ever been in there, though.

Q Well, had you ever been in those premises before?
A Yes, sir, But the 13th of Decenmber was the first day T

noticed this defendant.

Q Yes. What date were you at those premises the

first time?

MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to these que.f.ivox.u as nqt
binding on the defendant, : .
THE COURT : Overruled. He may state whether he
went to the premises prior to Decenb er 13th, 1910. |
MR. ROSENTHAL: But T don't see where it is bind-
ing on the defendant, and T object, and T take an excep-
tion.
A On Decenber 12th, the day before.
BY MR, BUCEKNER:

Q Just tell us how you ent ered the premises?®

' THE COURT: When?
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MR. BUCKNER: On December 12th.

MR, ROSENTHAL: Objected to, as not binding on the de-
fendant.
THE COURT: Sustur_led.
BY MR. BUCKNER:
Q Now, then, tell us how you entered .the premi ses on De=
cenber 13th? A T entered the premises at 1542 iroldwﬂ’.
and walked upstairs to the billiard pm-lor; and, after 7T a.rrhul:
in the billiard parlor, T sat down and read ihe paper for a few
minutes, and then was watching the men playing pool,or shooting
pool, or playing billiards. Then, about three p.m., T 'ﬂkld
up & flight of stairs onto the balcony, and a man who was on the
balcony recogni zed ==
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to any act done by this man
on the balcony, if your anor Please.
THE COURT:  Sustained.
BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q Now don't state that. The word "recognized" is im-
proper. What did you do when you got to the balcony?
A A man opened the door for me, and T passed thraugh this door.
MR. ROSENTHAL: T move to strike out the answer, if
iy your Honor please, as not binding on the defendant, that
a man opened the door for him.
MR. BUCKEER: Tt 18 a physical act, your Honor, and

1t 18 admi ssible, T submit.




THE COURT: Objection overruled.
MR, ROSENTHAL:  Exception.
BY MR. BUCKNER: )
Q And what did you do when the door was opened?
MR, ROSENTHAL: Objected to.
THE COURT: Overruled.
MR. ROSENTHAL: Exception.
A T passed through the door.
Q) And where did you go, after you passed through the
door? A Then another door was opened.
MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to the question, if your
Honor please.
THE COURT: Overruled.
MR. | ROSENTHAL: Exception.
BY MR. RUCKNER:
Q And what did you domafter you passed through the second
door? A T went up a short flight of stdrs.
Q Had you ever seen those two men before who were at
those two doors?
MR, BOSENTHAL:, T object to the question, as not
binding on the defendant. |
THE COURT: Overruled,
MR . ROSRilTHAL: Exception.
A There was only one man épmed ‘Soth doors,

Q There was only one man opened both doors? A Yes, w®r.




Q Had you ever seen that man before?. Yes or no? A Yes.

Q When® A The day before.
Q After you passed through the second door, where did you E
go, Houghton? ° A Up a short flight of stairs. .
Q And where 41d that take you to? A Tnto a small room,
which contained -- |
Q What was in that room? A Tt contained n.-ide‘bou'd,
and -~ :
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to what was in that small
room. The defendant didn't have the control or‘that room,
nor of those premises. | Tt hasn't been shown yot‘,b and it
isn't binding on him. The evidence is that there is two = =
rooms in between where he sald the defendant was.
¥R. BUCKNER: T haven't got to that yet; that's all.
MR . ROSENTHAL: T want a ruling on that, if your
Honor please.
MR. BUCKNER: Y withdraw the question.
BY MR, fL'ClOIRR:

Q Did you see the iefendant in the snall room? A No,

g b
Q Did you pass through the small room? A Yes, sir,
Q Tnto where? A Tnto a large room.
Q Didyou see the defendant in the large room? A-I Yes,
sir. i

Q What date was this? » A Decemimer 13th.’
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Q Describe what was in ihat large room at the time you
saw thedefendant there? A A crap table.

Q Anything else? A ﬁou_lotte wheel.

Q Anything else? A  Blackboards, small blackboards,

on the wall.

]
O Anything else? A A large desk.
Q Keepb your voice up? A A large desk.
Q Anything else? A Chaii'l.
Q What? A A number of chairs, and small tables.

Q' Anything else that you recall now? A That's ;il 1

r emember .

Q Did you see anybody dn that room while the defendant was
there? A Yes, siT, : |

Q How many, @ out? - A When J first entered the ro om?

Q Yes? A Abou* fifteen or twenty. T didn‘t count
them,

Q How large was this room, if you can approximate?
A Tt was about as long as this court-room 1§ wide, about.

Q And about how wide?

MR, ROSENTHAL: Well, now, just a minute. T want
the measurements made. Will somebody make them? He
says as big as th.iu room.

THE WITNESS: No, sbout as long as this court-room
is wide,:I said.

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: :
Q About how long is that,ymmm Houghton? A T don't know.



MR. BUCKNER:, One moment, please,  Will you permit

me to finish my direct exammnation before the oross-examina-

tion is beghn? ’

MR, ROSENTHAL: T only want the measurements. _

THE COURT: Tt will be conceded that the length of i
this room is &out 58 feet? ‘

MR, BUCKNER: He said the room was as long as this
room is wide. He has said it twice, and he has sald

nothing else, .

THE COURT: T think it is dout 38 feet.
MR, ROSENTHAL: T think it is about 39. Part II]
is 39 feet, your Honor.
MR. BUCKNER: Then we will take it at 39 feet.
BY MR. BUCKNER:

Q And about how wide is it, according to yoﬁr best judg-
ment? A About from here over to that first window there
(indicating).

MR, BUCENER: How wide is that? ‘
MR. ROSENTHAL: Tt's up to you. T want a rubing
how wide that room is, if your Honor please.

THE COURT: Can you not agree upon it between your=

selves?

MR, ROSENTHAL: Twenty-five feet.

MR, BUCKNER: T have no judgment on such nnttwu';. ‘

a5

T will take whatever Mr. Rosenthal says. ‘ Al




MR, ROSENTHAL: Then sbout 25 feet
BY MR, BUCKNER: |

r*.

Q What was he doing? A He was standing at the eor

table.

scribe 1t? A Tt's a small cane, with a o\u;vo‘,m th
Q Keep your voice up? A Tt's a a1
& curve on e end of it. iy
Q@ And what was he doing with thil o“
the game hadn't got thoroughly started m
0 Keep your voice up?. A At that “ﬂ
not started. ‘
Q Well at any time later that you saw him there
was he doinp,. vl th this rake? A He wmlil rake in the ga
~was used at this crap table. ‘ | ,
Q yho threw the dice on the table? A ﬂliwl
Q Did he also throw the dico," as nnu
A e would throw the dice into the players®
Q How many people were plwlng.lt ‘ll!’.. "

A During the afternoon?



Q Yes? Approximately, if you know, 1!‘ you have q&
judgment about 1t? A Well, there was a di fferent W.

different times, in the afternoon.

whatever your judgment 18? . A T have seen as many as t'.m,.\

five standing around the table.

Q Keep your voice up? A T have seen as many n tnnt"r-"
five standing around the table.
Q Did you participate in the crap game on that day? A Yes
sir.‘
Q To what extent did you participate? A- T wi.»l"]; have to
look at my memor andum book before T can tell how much T P
MR. ROSENTHAL: Yo, dén't say any more.

BY MR, BUCKNER:

Q@ Can you remenber now to what extent you participated .'

in the c¢rap game, on December 13th 1910, at that plw‘. -‘!thv
out refreshing your recollection? A No, T oan't.

Q Have you any method of refreshing your recoliootion. as
to how much you invested in the crap game on that day? A I'o‘la
Q Now, then, you may refresh your recollection with

any memoranda that you have on that subject.
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to that, unless he h_“"ll.
as to whether his memory is as good t‘o-dly as 1t ° : '

Decenh er 13th, unless he is questioned about Shat at .
BY MR. ROSENTHAL: Wi

Q Ts vou .orv a8 good to-day as 1t wal SEEERS



. . -
13th of last year? AT don't understand .tho ‘question,
q 7 sﬁy, is your mombry as good to-day as it was on Dﬁ
cember 13th of iaat year? A My memory is as good, yes.
ti Then you know all that went on in those pruinu{ ddnft

you? A Yes,

THE COURT: The District Attorney has questioned this
witness as to his M1ity to state from memofy the mouﬁt
of money that he used on that occasion, and the vdtne.ll
says that he will have to refer to a memorandum book to
ascer tain. Now, you may cross-examine this witness, with
a view to ascertaining when he made the entries in the
memorandum book, and whether he is capable, after conlu].t-.
ing the memorandum book, of testifying from a refreshed

recollection, or whether, after consulting the memorandum
book,his memory is not refresh;d, and whether he dohondi
upon the entry in ‘the book for the purpose of stating
the amount of money he used.
BY THE COURT:
Q When did you make the entries in the book? A Thn_t 7
evening, after T arrived home. .

Q@ Tn your own handwriting? A Yes, sir.

BY MR, ROSENTHAL:

Q@ How many hours afterwards? A Three or four hﬁﬁria

|

Q Three or four hours afterwards? A Yo'l," sir.
WR. ROSENTHAL: = T object to that. :



THE COURT: Overruled,

MR. ROSENTHAL: RBxception. I object to any record

made by this witness three or four hours after the Mn, h
he says. , o
THR WITNESS: Your Honor, 7 made memorandums on a
newspaper, in tﬁe place, at the time. '
THE COURT : Just talk to the jury. 'Mdr‘ll the
jury. Turn around, and address the jury.
MR, ROSENTHAL: Yes, Talk so that the twelfth juror
can hear- yo;.n.
BY!'MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q What was that you said? A That 1 made memorandums
on a newspaper, while T was in the. room, and T mt it in tho’
book, after T arrived home.
BY THE COURT:
Q And what did you do with the entries that iou made cq' (AR
the newspaper? A T destroyed it. l
MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to it.
THE OOURT: Overruled.
MR, ROSENTHAL: Exception. ‘
THENCOURT : Now, first, let him look n’t hti Nﬁ.
and then ask him whether it does or does not rn,‘r:”h_uiil el
recolléction. G

BY MR, BUCKNER:



lection, and don't answer amy questions until T ask you mother
question. i

WR. ROSENTHAL: Now, your Fonor, I ask that the witmess

who 1s standing there at that door (indicating the Mk door
of the side-room) stay on the inside of that door, and nqt il
keep opening it all the time. T mean Cuiun, t‘h.ornoo'r.

one of the officers in this case.

THR COURT: Open that door. Call Officer Carlson,
Captain.

MR. ROSENTHAL: He just got away, that second.

THE COURT: No, he did not get away. And‘do not
make such a statement publicly. The jury will disregard
the remar ks made by counsel. Tt is a new discovery that
a person can look through something that is opmo; lo', .
T happened to see who was at that door, or near thn.t_db‘or.
and it was not this officer. It was a young man 1nl dtt"
of grey clothes. Now' T want everybody to retire from
that room, TLet them go into Part V. Keep that door ow.'
and keep that room empty, Captain.

BY WR, BUCKNER: ( |
Q Houghton, have you now refreshed your foooll.otiﬂi as
to amount of money that you spent on the crap game on Dtlm .
13th, 1910, at this place? A Yes, sir. g
Q How much di 4 you spend on that game? IA fg

noon, T d4i &'t ‘shoot crap.




‘ Y % ‘v“,r

: et _gifjr};
Q Well, did you play any crap on that day at all , at
that place? A Yes, sir. . , | ' .

Q When? A In the evening. ™ '

Q You mean to say that you were at this 'p].aoo on 0" 1‘“\
twice? i mA Yes, sir. . g Rl

Q When did you go back the second time? A About m
p.m,

Q About seven p.m,? A Yes, sir,

Q Did you see the defendant then? A Yes, sir.

Q What was he doing? A The same thing.

THE COURT: Strike out, "the same thing."

BY THECOURT :

Q State what you saw him doing? A T saw him at _tho
crap table. i
BY MR, BUCKNER:

Q And what .taa he doing at the crap table? 'A He had
the rake in his hand, and was in charge of the dice.

Q Was any playing going on at that timo?. A Yes, sir.

Q Did you play at the game of crap avt that time? A Yes,
sir.

Q 'Now just tell us how you plaged it, tell us everything
that you di & A When I entered the room == { £

BY THE COURT :

Q  State what you did, and what the defendant dtlf‘ A '-'ﬂ."{

#ir. T exchanged a five dollar.bill for fifty cent pl.‘ﬂ..a'
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BY MR. BUCKNER :

Q Who gave you the change? A‘ The num-iln'tt present,

T don't see him here.

Q All right. Where was he standing in the room? A He o8
was on the opposite side of the table from this d_o:l’lond'nnt. v
Q All right. Then what did you do? A Then when it , ’ <
came my turn, I shot crap.
BY THE COURT:
Q Who gave you the dice? A This man (indicating the
iefendant), This defendant.
Q This defendant? A Yes, sir.
BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q Did you throw the dice then? A Yes, sir,
@ Then what hapnened? A During the operation, T lost
five dollars. ' i |
MR, ROSENTHAL: Now, ] move to strike out ths word
"operation", if your Honor please.
THE COURT:  Yes, strike it out.
MR. ROSENTHAL: And 7 ask your Honor to direct thp
jury to disregard 1it. i
THE COURT : Mo tion granted.
BY MR, BUCKNER: S

Q Now, what dfid you do with the fifty cent ',’&l‘f: e
came to your turn? A When it came my "“"",W,ﬁ .

defendant takes a pair of dice from a box ﬁidl'“



him on the table, and he thr:own those dice to me, and 7 M"
catch 1t in my hand, and T place a fi fty cent piece where il;
says "Line" on the crap table, ll't is to indicate iho line.
That indicates T am going to shoot fifty cents.
MR, ROSENTHAL: T move to strike out what it in-
dicates. The operation of the witness's mind is not bind-
ing on the defendant.
THR COURT: Yes, strike that out,
BY THE COURT:
Q Did you put dow'ri fifty cents? A Yes, sir, én.t.he

table.

THE COURT: Have you that table here?
MR. BUCKNER: We havesent for it. Tt will be

here, in a rpomant. . v
BY THR COURT:

Q Proceed. A Then T rolled the dice, and I ‘-M’t re= |
member what turned up on the dice, what the point 'ul. bl'ltvl
do know that T lost that first bet.

BY MR, BUCKNER:

Q And after you threw the dice, “'hnt. didfthlA d.fmd&l"
Burgess do? A He reached over with this ltlok- or thHes l'lllj :
which he has in his hand, and he called out the number «w :
dice, the number that was turned up on the dice, M
"Put the buck on thmt number," and th.?l"h. m&!

him, and holds it in his hand, and then RXm



Q What became of the first fifty cents? A T dost tt.
Q Well, who got 1t? A The man that was .ntlng as a

banker took it in.

Q That was not the defendant? A Yo, sir.
Q Well, where was the other man standing? A Directly
opposite to thivn man. : . |
Q At the same table? A Yes, 8ir,
Q T hand you this picture.
WR. ROSENTHAL: T object to the introduction of that
picture there, if your Honor please, .
MR . BUCKNER: T suppose that cpunul had better wait
until 1t is introduced.
MR, ROSENTHAL: 'el]_.‘ T know, but -~
THE COURT: yet me look at it. Why not prove
this picture by some other person?
MR. BUCKNER: All right,’
BY MR. BUCKNER: .
Q Did you ever ‘aee this == T withdrn' that . What became
of your other four dollars and a half? A T lost it.
MR, W.OSM'IN{AL: I object to the question as leading.
What did he do, if anyhhing, else?
THE COURT: Overruled,
MR. ROSENTHAL: Rxception.
BY MR. BUCKNER:

Q Well, how did you lose 1t? A Tn this game.
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Tn the same way you have described? A Yes, gir.

How long‘ di 4 you play there? A Until n’.bom_:l:;o.

Was ths defendant there all that time? A Yes, sir, .

o £ L DO

State anything else that the defendant said or 'd"il. b ahi c
you can recall, other than you have stated? A During the game,

or‘ while 7 was there, he would call out, as a man was goihg to

shoot, or as he threw the dice, "Get your money down on the

field." The field number is due. Xollow this man, He is

lucky."

Q Anything elseeo A That's all T remember.

Q What sort of a table was this game played on? A Ona
crap table. i ) ‘

Q Well, what kind of a table? A A b‘illlil‘l‘dvtlbl..
with a crap cloth over it. ' 3

MR ,ROSENTHAL : '1’ move to strike out the l‘amr«’, s & A

your Honor please. 4 7
BY THE COURT:

Q@ What do you mean by a crap cloth? : A Tt's a gr._.lli_ ) '
cloth, the same as a billiard cloth, and all these n@ct; tml
is, in the game of crap, is printed on this cloth. ' ‘

d You have plated the game fo’r how long a time? Are m b
familiar witlh the game of crap? A Yes, sir.

Q You have played it for how long? A !rmdnj '
day, the 13th of ﬁecenher, T had nov'or.n'ul't SaL ¢

Q But since that time how often have you




table? : i
} MR. ROSH\QIN: T object to anything subsequent. ¥

object to the question,

THE COURT: Overruled.i | —
A T should say about fifty times. _ _ ‘ Mo 5

MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to the quutioq and answer,
and move to strike them out:

THE COURT: Objection overruled, | Motion demied.

MR . ROSENTHAL: Exception. Tt isn't binding on the
defendant, T éu‘bmit.

THE COURT : This testimony is not of fered to bind
the defendant, butnsimply as showing that the witness is
capable of testifying to the character of the table that
he saw in the place, on the night of December 13th. Pro-
ceed, | | :

WR. ROSENTHAL: Exception.

BY MR, BUCKNER: .

Q Now T hand you a piece of cloth, and ask you to ““
it, and say whether you have ever seen it before toeday? A
have to stretch this .out.

(The witness stretches it out with the assistance .
of the crier of the court). :

; Q Have you ever seen it before top‘dnj? ‘,.., (e
Q Where di 4 you ever see that olot-h befor

Broadway.



0 Ts that the cloth that you have been talking about? .

A Yes, Vsir.

' Te that the cloth which was used at the game that you
have described, and in which you pl@ed and the defendant PIM _
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to the question, as 1.-41;(.>
THE COURT: " Sustained, ! o x..
BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q Where di d you See this cloth in 1542 Br‘omc. in whl.t. :
part of the premises? A On that table. | ‘

Q A little louder? A On the erap table.

Q What crap table? A That was in 1542 Broadway. ‘
: : v ; e

MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to the term, “orap table," 5

.1f your Honor please. ' ' bt &Ry “’*

THRE COURT: Objection overruled.

MR. ROSENTHAL:/ Exception.

BY MR. BUCKNER: ‘ :

Q Didyou see more than one in that place? A Only ‘IQ; »

Q Only one? A Yes, sir. ‘ ' .

WR. BUCKNER: T now offer in evidence inis cleth,
identified by the witness.

THE COURT: T will receive it.

MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to it, and exoipt 'to' ite ll- i

mssion. i |

THE . COURT: Objection overrpled.

MR . anTF‘{M" I‘,XCGD?J on 3 ) [ . L E
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THE COURT: You may question this witness with a view

of ascertalning what mems, if any, he has of 1“‘“!#“

the cloth. You may queition him before T receive it in

evidence. '
BY MR, ROSENTHAL:

Q Now you have seen cloth similar to that? Take your
hand down from your mou.th, please, will you? A Since Doooﬁr
13th?

Q Yes? A Yes, sir.

Q Tn fact, cloth quite similar? A Well, it is similar
in this way, the way its laid ou£.

Q Yes. And you have no particular mark on that piece
of cloth here, so that you can say that that is the same oiotﬁ?
A Yes, T have.

Q As the same piece of cloth that was taken out of 1542
Broadway? A Yes, siy, T have a mark on it.

Q When did you make that mark? A On the 16th of De-
Cember .

0 That is, three days after you say you saw this defendant
there; 18 that right? A Yes, ’uiri'.

Q Hawve you seen this green cloth since? A, lq, sir.

Q Since it was taken out of the premi ses 15_48’.. and before
to-day? A Yo, sir. 7

Q Positive of that? A T said, "No, sir."

Q@ Are you positive of that, T say, -A' Yes, sir. |




28
Q@ Do you know where this cloth was? A T believe tho.
Poli ce Department ‘of New York held it.
Q Do you know where the Police Department held that piece
of cloth? A Tn the property Clerk's room.
Q Were you in fhe‘Property Clerk's room when that cloth

was taken there? A Yo, sir.

Q Did you see it taken out of the premises? A No, sir.
Q 1542 Broadway? ‘A No, sir.

Q You are positive that you di dn't see that cloth taken

out of the premises 15427
THE COURT: He said so.
BY MR, ROSENTHAL:

Q ¥Now , 80 far as you know, this cloth could have been
brought to wherever you say it was at Headquarters, the Property
Clerk's office, from the premises 1542 Broadway, without wa
knowledge; isn't that so? A Yes.

Q Tell us how you marked that; will you? A With an in-
de lible pencil.

Q And have you always carried that indelible pencil?

A Not aiways; no, sir,

o,k Now tell us of another place where you saw green cloth
made up similar to that“? A T saw one quite recently.

Q Has there been a raid made on thobe premises? A Yes,
Bir.

Q And where else did you see it?




THE COURT: Do not mention any place where yﬁﬂ..b

evidence, at present. ¥/

A Well, there is a numbey of places where 7 have semn cloths

" like that.

BY MR, ROSENTHAL:
Q And they all looked like this cloth? Did they or did = =
they not? A The same numbers, but not =--
Q Do you mean to tell this Court and jury that, in the

presence of twenty-five men, around that crap table, you were

able to take out an indellible pencil, and mark that ocloth? -
A Yes, T did. T marked that table with the indesllible
- pencil. As they Qere not standing around it when T nirk.‘ it,
either.
Q They weren't? A Yo, sir.
Q Show where it was marked? A Right there (indicating).
@ And where do=s that lay? On the table or over the
table? A On the table.
Q What is 1t? Your initials? =~ A No; just a eross .
Q' And you have seen that particular gren cloth since the
raid was made; isn't that so? A T hadn't seen it; mo, sir,
Q You have seen it toeday; haven't you? A That olotiﬂ
Q0 Yes? A Vo, T didn't see that cloth. :
WR. ROSENTHAL: That's all as to that. And 7 ronqi ;
my' objection to introducing it in evidence. | ] ol .

BY THE COURT: A
Q On “he 16th of December, 1910, at the time you marks



e
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this cloth, where was the defendant? A There i

ing uround_tlu table at that time.

there.
Q That day? A Yes, sir.
Q The 16th? A Yes, sir.

Q And the defendant was there, that day? A Yes,

say? A T didn't notice Mm just at thnt.mt-é
‘ Q But on that day was he there? A !’u" :
noon he was there. i
Q Wag it the same afternoon on whioh’m}' "
doth? A (No answer). ‘
Q Was the defendant in the place oh the lm
Did you see him there? A T saw him there, ‘n “
table;, yes, sir. ' i
Q@ Did you ple that day?
Q And what time did you go to the pluo? A

to look at my memorandum, to answer thlto‘

BY MR. BUCKNER :

Q@ When did you next go back to 15“,‘ .
4 ‘ i =t



the 13th? ‘
‘Q Yes? A On the l4th.

Q Was the defendant t here on that day?

Q What did you see him doing there? ‘ :
WR. BUCKNER: T will withdraw the offer of tho‘q‘icti‘j
"~ at this time. 7
BY MR, RUCKNER:
Q “Wnat a1a you see him doing on the 14th? v : ."‘ g ;
BY THE COURT:
Q Tf anything?
BY MR, BUCKNER:

Q Tf anything? A (No answer). ; i e el “

BY MR. BUCKNER:
Q What did you sec him doing, if anything, on the 1
A Hg was the raker at the crap table, .
Q And was anybody playing at the crap _ti‘blo on ﬂl‘ ;
day? A Yes, sir. ' j
0 At the crap game? A Yes, eir. _
Q Did you see any money being used? A YO.,"HI'.'
Q Now describe what he was doing ‘when you iﬁ he "
as the raker on the 14th? A He stood at the M";‘
the box of dice in front of him; mth.g.@ \ na
as the dice were thrbvm, he would take M to h
th'em ﬁp, and throw them back to the pl-fair;“ '

O And did you see anything done to“' the f;
I v |



T A

) Sy Y TR e e NO—,

THE COURT: Ob,h"oti‘on -utm;'
&?l.er. ' i

BY MR, BUOIGI'RR‘

MR. ROSENTHAL: Tf he knou.
THE codm‘: . Yes, i<f he knows.
BY MR. BUCKNER: ‘
Q Tn any pﬁrti cul ar 1n§£moo?
MR, ROSENTHAL: ‘xo', T obhject to aw

: -tmce *

rmg COURT: ObJeotion ovorrul.d- i

R, ROSEHTHAL . Bxception, 1 1‘”

" stance be made a.t~ a time, :
?r}m}coun'r: Well, if ho c'.n; it ‘vu,i‘ :

he should. |

A T can't pick out any one instance.

BY VR. BUCKNER:

A Tt would be c011ected ‘ny the bmhro
BY THE coum'- WS ,



mhrvNI&Whho | »

QI who se presence wu}d tlwl M don'
fendant's, and all ‘the players.
BY 3R, BUCKNER i

Q Did you pla’ any Orap on t.m lafth?

ora.p game, on that day? A At the crap nu%x"'
Q Wnat "nn‘ he doing? A Mtlug n X -

Q And when did you next go 'buek ‘to llv

t he-14th? . A On the ==

THE COURT: - What 18 the a.to 1nl.‘;
WR. BUCKNER: The 13th.
BY M. BUCKNER:
Q When did you next go back? A On tht ‘ﬂt’“\
' Q Did you see the defendant on the lbth' A ;
Q@ What did you see him doing on the luth' A
taker at the crap table. e
Q Did you seec any one playing ordp at ’

T — ~ 0
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A Yes, sir. |
Q While the defendant was there? A  Yes, s#ir.
Q Did you youruﬂ’ win or lose any money on the lﬁth?
A T don't remember whether T broke even, or whether I won, or

whether T lost.

Q Well, did you play? A T played,;, yes. el
Q Where was the defendant at the time you played crap,
on the 15th? A He was the raker.
Q Just as you have before described? A Yes, eir.
Q When did you next go back, sfter December 15th?
A On the 16th.
Q Did you see the defendant on the 16th? A Yes, lilr.
Q What di d you see him doing on the 16th? A Acting u

raker.,
Q Did you see
A Yes, sir.
Q Did you see any money enployed in tmt game? l!.-.l."
sir. ’ :
Q Did you see anybody win or lose any mbnoy in that erap

|

game? A Yes, eir.

Q Did you yourself play crap on the 16th? A Yes, sir. !
Q Where was fi}m defendant when you played? Gty ¢ m :
as a raker. » i #
Q What did he do when you played? A nnw .

my hands.

anybody playing the crap game, on that M
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Q Did you win or lose on the 16th? A T don't remember,

0 "011, did you do one or the other? A T either won,
ér loss, or =- : j: :

MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to it. The witness says
that he don't rémember.
BY MR. RUCKNER:

Q Well, did you play? A Yes, sir, T played.

Q Where was the defendant when you played? A Acting
as the raker.

Q Well, did you notice the cloth on the crap table on
Deceamber 16th, 19107 A Yes, #ir. '

Q Have you seen it since? A YNot since the 16th.

Q Well, do you see it now? A Yes, eir.

Q Ts this the cloth as to which you testi fi ed, a while
ago (indicatipg)? " A That's the cioth that was there on the
16th.

Q Now in what respect was t hat cloth similar or different
on the 16th of December, 1910, from what it was on the 1$zh of
Decerber, 19107 A Tt is the same sost of a cloth.

Q0 Tt is the same sort of a cloth? A Yes, sir,

MR. RUCKNER: . T now offer in evidence the cloth as

People's Bxhibit T. ‘

MR. ROSENTHAL: b { ob.jactl to it,
THE COURT: Tt is received.

MR, ROSENTHAL: Exception



* (Tt is marked People's Exhibit I).

Y MR ., BUCKNER:

Q Did you go back to those i emises, 1542 Broadway, after

Dec ember 16th, 19107 A T did not.
Q Now will you show us how you played "’tho gm of crap
at t;,his place in question, when the defendant was acting as
raker? . '
MR. ROSENTHAL: Now T object to any exhibition, or
showing to this jury by this witness here, or as to the
shaking of ammy dice, on the ground th;.t»:lt hasn't been shown
that he i8s an expert, or is competent.
THE COURT: He sald he played crap fifty times.
MR, ROSENTHAL: That's not sufficient. T may have
played it as many times, but T don't know one number from
another. ' :
THE COURT: Perhaps you are not as adept as the wit-
ness.
MR. ROSENTHAL: Well, when T get through with him, |
perhaps he won't be 80 adept either. T object to this
witness here exhibiting to the jury his qudlti'cationi as
a crap player. :
THE COURT: T overrule the objection.
MR. ROSENTHAL: Exception. . i -
MR. RUCKEER: And may I place this long table nm '
the jury, instead of this short table} becamuse it LI.W

W



short?
THE COURT: Yes.

NR. ROSENTHAL: And T object to tnouﬁm' stand
there, and telling the officers which way they muu '

lay the cloth on the table, as not 'binding on the dofondqt‘ N

THR COURT: T overrula your obj eotion. ; IR
MR. ROSENTHAL: RException.
BY MR. BRUCKNER :

Q Yow, Houghton, on which side of People's Exhibit T diad
you stand at the time you played crap with this defendmt, as
you have testified? -y

MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to i1t as too indefinite. When
was it? There are four days when t.hi; witness . said he
wan‘ in that place. What day was 1t?

BY MR. BUCKNER: |

Q Well, on December 13th, on which gide of this cloﬁx
did you stand?

MR. ROSENTHAL: TN\ he knows.

BY MR. BUCKNER: * l

Q Keep your voice up. A T stood right on this
corner here (indicating).

WR. BUCKNER: _1Tndicating a point opposite Juser ¥o.

2.

BY MR. BUCKNER:

Q Now where did the defendant urgess stand, Ol’tmi‘
| 3 ) o



casion? A Right in the cemntre, here, opposite tHs “ﬂ

"Line."

MR. RUCKNER: T think we will have it the other way.
THY WITNESS:  Yes, it will have to be, if the jury
are to be the players. ; ,
MR. ROSENTHAL: ©No, let it stay that way, ‘because .',' ‘-‘-‘_:
the witness has shown that it should lay this 'ny'.‘.d
has shown where the defendant stood.
THE COURT: All right, = Thenturn it around the othe
way, Mr. Buckner, as counsel requesis.
THE WITNESS: Do you want the jury to represent the
players?
BY THE COURT:
Q Now explain to the jury the condition which you fml

this cloth and the players, at the time that you went to the

premi ses, on December 13th, 19107
BY MR . RUCKNER : .
Q On which side did you stand, and on which side did‘th._n '
de fendant stand? A When the play was in operation ==
MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to that.
THR COURT: Sustained, I
BY THE COURT:
Q On Decenmber 13th, do you remember where you lﬁ“‘r
where the defen‘d'mt stood, and where the other pumﬁp 0

this table stood? es, sir e gy
ity Bl - » 1



BY MR . BUCKNER : f

Q Speak up, now? A The defendant stood right here ) .
(indicating the word "Iine"),and the box containing a ‘n\u'boi |
of dice was here (indicating).

Q And where did you stand? A T stood here (pointing

to a spot oprosite Juror No. 5).

Q T hand you two articles, and ask you to state if those
articles are similar to the dice employed there?

MR, ROSENTHAL: Oh, T object to that, if your Honor

Please.

THE COURT: Upon what ground?
MR. ROSENTHAL: Upon the ground that we are not bound
by the two dfce that are brought here now.
MR, BUCKNER: They are straight dice, your Honor.
MR, ROSENTHAL: And T object to the remark of the Die-
trict Attorney, and ask your Honor to strike that out.
There 18 no evidence here as to any dice belﬁg straight or
not straight, or that anything but straight dice were used
there, if any were used at all. T object.
THE COURT: Objection overruled.
MR. ROSENTHAL: Exception.
BY MR. RUCKNER :
Q T hand you two articles, and ask yoyu to state if those )
articles are similar to the dice employed there?

MR . ROSENTHAL: ; Object to it, unless the witness
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knows, of his own knowledge, that the dice that were used,
if any "oro used, on the 13th day of Docenb;r. as to welight
and size and color.
A T didn't weigh the dice.
¥R. BUCKNER: No, don't answer the counsel.
MR. ROSENTHAL: ~ No, tell that to the Judge. T oﬁ-'
ject.
THE COURT: T overrule your objection.
MR, ROSENTHAL: Exception.
BY MR . BUCKNER:
Q ‘'Now, Mr. Houghton, will you just state to the jury
when you played your first fifty cents, on December iazn. 1910,
what is th_e first thing that the defendant did with regard to
that particular play, if anything? A He takes a pair of
dice similar to these two dice (indicating), and he throws them
to me, T am standing over there (indicating).
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q How far away from him? A Aﬁd he is standing here
(indicating) .
Q Mive feet away?
MR. BUCKNER: ©No, three or four feet.
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

Q Mve feet awaY? A T didn't measure it, T don't
know.

THRE COURT: Well, here is a rule You may measure

b
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1t, Mr, Ro--gnihn. Are you as particukr as
M. ROSRNTHAL: T am, sir. T thnk thisi

ficial, to us. ' G
THE COURT: He pointed out to the jury how far hq

stood away. ' ; !
WR. ROSENTHAL: He said he stood s the end of this

table. ; : A o _. v ’
MR. BUCKNER: T have measured it. That is exactly |

three feet and thfee-quarteru. .

BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q And what di d you do then after Burgess thrlw the ﬂo.

toyou? AT placed fifty cents on the line, and T tﬁl’ %

dice up in my hand, and 7 shake them, ‘ and T thrn twﬂ‘h i
and make a point. 1 donlt remenmb er what w point was A % ‘
particular play. Whatever point it was, the bmhr'ﬁl‘
Place ==
MR. ROSENTHAL: No, not what he would do, 'b"qt vui |
he di d.
THE CQURT: = Yes, state what he did.
A (Answer continued) The banker v(iid place =-=-
BY THE CQURT: ‘
Q Do you know that to be a fact? A Y.l,.ir,
threw the dice out, and the point was rolled, M

the banker placed a small object on one of th'lu :



dicating).
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q Tf you know?

THE COURT: He says 80, that he knew.

A T do lmow‘.
RY MR, RUCEKNER:
0 And then what happened? A Then T threw ‘th. ﬁOO‘-
until T threw a seven, and, when T threw a seven, I lost. .
Q And then what di d the defendant do? You don't nio;.

to throw until you throw a set. Then what did the dofonmt do,

what act did he do?’ A Then he raked the dice in.

Q With what did he rake them in? A With a small
rake or cane.
THE COURT: Have you got the rake horo"P
WR. BUCKNER: Y¥o, sir, it's outside., T will
have it brought in. Now just return to your l‘lt on the
witness-stand, Mr, Witness. ‘

BY MR, BUCKNER:

Q Now were the other eccasions on which you‘ongugod in
this crap game similar to that which you have just described,
except as to your winning or losing?

MR. ROSENTHAL: Now, 1 objeot to uimdlur;tioolor
statements of simi laxl'ities here, 1f your Honor please.
THE COURT: Sustained, Prove Olbil act.

BY MR. RUCKNER: i L b
Q Now, Mr. Houghton, at the time you were pPlaying orap,
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as you have described, was anybody else at the orap tﬂ:o. on

the 13th of December? A Yes, sir.

Q And what were they doing, 1f you know?

MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to the question, unless
this witness knows what these other persons were doing, on
the 13th day of December?

BY THE COURT:

Q You may state, Mr. Witness, everything that you observed
in the premiges in question, on the 13th of December, provided
whatever took place ocourred in the presence of the defendant?
You understand what T mean? A Yes, sir.

Q Whatever occurred on that table, in the presence of
this defendant, you may give testimony as to? A There were
a number of men standing around this table, shooting -~ thro'llcv
these dice out =~ and placing money, fifty cent pieces, and .
8ilver dollars, on di fferent numbers on this table, on whi ch
they would win or lose, according to the nugbers thrown,.

BY MR, BUCXNER :

Q According to what? Speak up? A According t‘o the
numbers thrown on the dice.

Q Accordiné to the numbers thrown on the dice? A Yes,
. Bir.
Q Now you said, a moment g.éo, that, when yolll threw a

seven, you loat your fi fty cents?

WR. BOSENTHAL: _ object to that e ham't made am

.
ST ® T



such statement. He said he lost his play.

THE COURT: Yes, that he lost his play. ; H '
MR. ROSFENTHAL: ° My, Buckner doesn't ‘undo_l"tul tM
‘part of it. ; :
BY THE COURT :
Q Well, what is the game known as?
MR, ROSENTHAL: Tf he knows.
BY THE COURT:

Q Tf you know? A Crap.

Q Now, give to the jury, detail more fully, how the game
is played. What number does the player take, and yhut number
does the house take? A On the first throw of the dice,
if you throw a seven or eleven, you win,

Q That is the player wins? A Yes, sir,

Q The man who throws? A Yes, sir, the player wins.
The first throw of the dice, if it is a seven or olﬁoﬁ. you
win.

Q Now, suppose you threw a two or a tvolv"? A Now, if :
you throw a two or a twelve, you loao.' That is crap.

Q And then, the second throw, if you throw a seven, wio
wins? A After throwing a crap? 4

Q Yes? A You win,

BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q You mean who wins? A The player.

Q Not the Judge o, &ir
? N

| »




BY MR, BUCENER:

Q Suppose you t&;w a five, initially? A On the first
throw? ! j

.

Q Yes? A Then you keep throwing until you throw. that
five, which is your point, or until you throw a seven.
BY MR. ROSENTHAL: ‘ .
Q Or anything else? ;
BY MR. BUCKNER:
Q And if you throw a seven, what is the result}
A You lose the money that you héve on the table. |
Q You lose the money and the play, both? A Yes, s#ir.
Q YNow you described your putting fifty cents on the line?

A Yes, sir.

Q Now is there my place whe re you could put your money,

except on the line? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, then, describe those possibilities, those possible

places? A When you havwe thé dice in your possession, and it
is your play, you put your money on the line, t.o gshow how much
money youare going to shoot, Then you can also put money on
different parts =--

MR. ROSENTHAL: Now T objett to all this statement

here, i f your Honor pleaae,‘ in the presence of the jury.
THE COURT: Objection overruled.
YR, ROSENTHAL: Bxception. It ien't binding on

this defendant.

| LA
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BY MR, BUCKNER : :
Q Just a moment, Did you see the varieties of niv_‘
done at 1542 Broadway,that you are about to desoribe, in the
presence of the defendant, on the day in question, or the days
that you have been gpeaking of? A Yes, l‘l/!‘. |
MR. ROSENTHAL: T object to it,
THE COURT: Allowed.
MR, ROSENTHAL: Exception.
BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q Now, then, show us what you sw done at th'at. tipe?
vl Tf you wish, you may place your money on the field numbers.
Q Explain that? A You place your money on tho ﬂ.old.
and the man who has the dice in his possession, on the nﬂi
throw, throws one of these numbers, two, three, five, nine,
ten; eleven, or twelve (indicating), you will win. ff you
want to.put your money on thi s number (indicating)-=
MR, ROSENTHAL: Meaning what? '
THE COURT:  He indicates 2 black.
MR, ROSENTHAL: I object to this witness being ;n-

structed or told what i1s what.

THE COURT: No, the witness 18 not boiug instructed ;

as to anything. The Couwrt merely mentioned th. OQ;DI'
the circle that the witness put his hand Om Q

the stenographer would have it on tho rom&. :
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merely said to have the stenographer have the right mf
.1n his minutes. Proceed. |
A (Answer continued) If you want to place your money on any
of these three numbers here (indicating), where 1t lvo.- "Craps
pays 7 for 1, 4f, on the next throw of the dice, you put your
hand on 2 black, on the next throw of the dice, if two others
are thrown, you win, and, if you have a dollar op it, you get
Seven or eight dollars for your moﬁey.
BY MR. BUCKNER:
" Q Well, who throws the dice? You or amother player?
., A The man who haé the play, the man who has the dice in his

hand. ITf, on the next throw, a player wants to put his .

money on either one of those three (indicating), and a orap is

ihrown on the number on which the money is , you will N paid
7 for 1. Tf it isn't thrown on the next throw, you lose. '
BY MR. BUCKNER :
Q Now can you descéribe any ot.he‘r varieties of play

which you saw played on December 13th, 1910? Alf yoix think
you are lucky, md a seven is due -~

MR. ROSENTHAEL: T object to that. -

THE COURT:, ©No, strike that out,
A (Answer continued) Well, if you\wuh, you may pliod your
money on this, a seven (indicating), and {f, on the ncut. thrn
of the dice, ‘a seven is throwm -- »

MR, ROSENTHAL: T object to all this, if the Court




rl‘t” .

THE COURT:  He sald th.t he ob-r«r« :

WR. ROSENTHAL: No, sir, He sald, '1”
you can do 80 a:nd so." :
THE COURT' Strike out the toltinony um.ﬁ*
witness wherein he merely states tlu state ofﬁl

BY THE COURT:

(indicating).
BY MR, ROSENTHAL:

Q And you wouldn't know ihat ))edqn§ of__th_t

rthoy placed it on the 7; would you? A Sonoum@‘?"!‘r‘
lose. On a few occasions, T saw them win. ;
BY MR, BUCKNER:
Q Well,'vill you describe the sy stem of play P
money is piaced on the 7?
MR, ROSENTHAL: 7T object to'thst.
Bystem.
BY THE COURT :
Q@ That you observed take place that lftmm’
MR. ROSENTHAL: Tf he knows, yes.

BY THE COURT:



'a 7 was not thrown, and E54 min KBt Bteod HeEr Rk
ing), the banker, gathered in that silver ilonqu’i:
BY MR, BUCKNER: ' ik

Q Can vou do-oribe any other vu'ictiu ofbtttih. «
you observed on Decmbor 13th, 1910, on tnis oloth? '
don't recall that you o‘blervod thon, don't dq‘ttb iw
A T can't remembera, T candescribe the plqy. butJ’ cﬂl
rememb er any special play.

Q You are not required to remember any npootn pl.w.

patting the money on tho se numbers.
MR. ROSENTHAL: No, he can't explain

not here. T object.

" WR. BUCKNER:’ T mean he oan desord]
,8aw a particular play made. '
who made it. ;

MR, ROSENTHAL: . T have no obJootiQ"
THE COURT: Then proceed. . v
stand, Mr. '1tr'msn.

BY MR, BUCKNER:
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on the 6 or 8 to be the man who was to t

time? ]
WR. ROSENTHAL: T object to that,

of nis om knowledge.

BY THE COURT: _
0 Yon; state 6! your own knowledge.

sary. | :

BY MR. BUCKNER:

Q Tn other words, the player can bet on =-- .

BY MR, BUCKNER :
- Q A player can bet how the dice will ml e
player is dout to roll? et T :
WR. ROSENTHAL: 1T object to the questd

and move to strike it out. "

THE COURT: Objection sustained.

¥R, BUCKNER : That is all.
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CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, ROSENTHAL:

Q How long -~ where didyou work before thil httm‘ :
concern? A This wasn't a bottling concern thnt I Im& f&l’

Q Well then I will call it by ite ox.(;; name, the "p
& Spirite Traders Soceity, is that right? A YO- Bsir.

Q@ And where was their place of business? A 78 Broad
street. s

Q It was No. 80 Broad street; wasn't it? A 78, the
Maritime Building. !

Q How long did you work for them? A About three years. % /

Q@ Three years? A Yes, sir. :

.Q Now who is the head of that loclttﬁ' A The ..Qﬁt, ‘the : ‘ i
New York agent for Benedictine. ’ =

Q@ Who is he? , I doh't remember his name just this
minute .

Q Yo you mean to tell us that you worked three years
for this society and the head of it was the New York ._g.ﬁt for
Benedictine, and still you don't know his name; 1§ that right?
A It -slipes my memory just th!is minute, yes.

Q You are positive Vthat you don't know the mame; 18 'Iut

80? Ao Yes

eir, at this mimte.
Q@ Do you know his firet name? A -No, sir.
Q Or do you know his last name? A I don't mm
‘Just now. This agent waen't the man I W”‘ fb't'

This man is in charge of the society and I would have
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dealings with him at all.
Q Why not? A Because the man who did the
work was Mr., Joseph Brand. : o
Q Mr. Joseph who? A Brand. (The witness -pmu
name .
Q Vas fhat work done forlth.t concern.

Q Are they still in existence? A Yes, sir. I'll show
you a letter head, if you want it. : '

Q Now just a minute. You work for them every week
regularly, for three'yeara? A Not every week; no, sir.

Q@ Did you receive your weekly slary for three years? !

A No, sir. ' |

Q@ H w much of the three years did you actually give them
for your services? A I don't remember now. :

Q@ As a matter of fact, how many weeks did you ;ork in .
the three years for this wine concern, or this wine and spirits
society? A I can't think, without looking it up.

Q Did you work more than two weeks, fourteen days iﬁ
two years? A Yes, sir. |

Q Did you receive more than two weeks salary for them?

A Yes, sir. j
» 0 Now what was your line of work? A Investigating
spurious liquors and =--

Q And it was to prosecute cases where you discovered that

they had refilled bottles? A Counterfeit labels, trade mark
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infringements, and =--.
Q And how many times did you appear in those particular
investigations that you made for them? : I don't remember.
Q Did you appear in one case in three years? , Yes, sir.
Do you know the name of that case? ) I have.it right
here.
Q@ No, no. Do you know it? A Yes, sir. Their name
is Speduzzi.
Q Where was that? A It was on 8th avenue.
Q Eighth avenue and what? A I don't remember the nume
ber now. It's sometime ago.
Q WVhen was that? A 1909, sometime.
0 Do you know of any other case? Oh, where was that
case disposed of? A It isn'tdisposed of yet.
‘ n Will you take your hand down, please? It isn't dis-
posed of yet? A No, sir.
Q Who else was in that investigation besides yourself?
A Mr. Joseph Brand.
Q Now tell us the entire caQe- in vhich you irrvoﬂinf.ulB
for them, while working for three years? . (¥o answer.)
Q You know of any other case? A Yes.

q Tell us the name, if you know? A Creed, Fink & Com-

|
Q Where are they? A Jersey City.

Q Why your society doesn't go to Jersey City; does it?
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A They go all ovof the country. ;
0 Where did you go, outside of New York, for Ml'

A Jersey City.

Q Where else vesides Jersey City? A Erooklyn.

Q@ Did you make any raide of any kind, or were you & wite
ness 1n/§:{e in ﬁrooklyn for them? A I am a witness, but it
hain't gone to court. .

0 That's also three years ago; is that right? A No,

sir.

Q Was it longer? A Vo, sir; last year, sometime.

Q Now who, besides yourself and Mr. Brand, composed
this investigating society? A We are the only two.

Q@ will you talk loud, so the jury canm hear? A We are
the only two that do the work in New York, sir.

Q@ Did you have ‘any shield? , No, sir.

Q Or any credentials of any kind? A We have A license
for New York State.

Q Where from in New York State? A The Wine & 'piflt4
Traders Society have a license, s New York State dnteqaivo
license. )

Q But you never had a detective badge; did you? A They
don't use badges. ; : |

Q You mean to say that licensed State l!t.ltiﬁ%é @

York State don't have badges? A Ths; issue oti ﬁ‘giiv
g

license.
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Q@ And don"t they 1-su§ other badges oh that lt'ﬂmf"f
A Many years ago, they did, but not noi. ' '

Q Ten years ago? A I don't know. :

Q When did you see them last issue thnﬁ a I age't
know. Some years ago. |

Q Now are they still at No. 78 Broad ltroot?‘ A Yo..,
sir.

Q@ YNow, where do you live? A 475 a Lexington avenue
Brboklyn.

Q Did you ever live anywheres else ‘.bout that same time?
A About what time?

Q About pecember, 1910? A Did I ever stop anywhere

else?

‘Q Did you ever live there? , I lived there, yes. :

Q Did you ever 1live at 1071 Herkimer street? A »;‘Ot‘
time? |

Q Did you ever testify, in December, ﬁut you lived at
1071 Herkimer strect, Brooklyn? A Well, I lived there in
December?
| Q Yes? A VNo, I didn't.

Q@ When did yo;z live there? A About -~ let me see. 1
have to think. It muet be about two years ago.

Q Did you ever testify in a police court, Ol'""
examination, that you lived at 471 @ I‘lin.tu enue,

and, on the cross examination, that you lived at
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street, Brooklyn? A No, sir.

Q Are you sure about that? A Yo-, sir,
MR, BUCKNER:- Where does that appear in the police
court mf minutes, Mr. Rosenthal?
MR. ROSENTHAL: He's under cross examination, Mr,
Buckner.. Piease leave me alone.
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q@ Did you ever work for any other cono‘rn besides this
Wine & Spirite Traders Society? A Yes, 8ir. i
Q Who else? A The Trade Mark Protective Company .
Q How long? A I have it here, if you permit me to
look.
No, how long? A About four months.
Four months? A Yes, sir.
You received how much a week? A $21. a week.

¥r. Brand waa.your employer? A No, sir.

L O L& o L0

Was Mr. Botler your employer? A Mr., Botler; yes, sir:
Q And if he should mmt take the stand ind state that
you only worked there three weeks, instead of four months,
would he be telling a lie?
MR. BUCKNER: Objected i
THE COURT: Sunfainod.
BY MR, ROSENTHAL:
Q Do you know the McGrath case? A Yes.

Q You know it well; don't you? , Yes.




Q Weren't you diescharged from this Trade Mark .h'ot.ctilv:.’f-‘_-‘

Sooiety because of the McGrath case? A Wo, sir.

Q Mr. Botler is the superintendent of that loch-iy’, !ll"i _ :
he? A I don't know the position he holde now. .

Q All right. What position did he hold wen you were
there? A "He was a detective or investigator.

Q@ You don't know what he was; do you? A A detective or

investigator.

Q Now when you say a detective, what do you mun?md
he have a badge? A I never saw him with one; no, sir. :

Q Did you have a badge? , No, sir.

Q Now by what right, or authority of law, did you dare
to go into premises and ifivestigate them, without a b.d.t of
authority? A They had a license to do so. |

Q ‘Do you know what license? A They have it framed in
their office.

Q@ Do you know license you had that you were luthorliid,
that granted you permission to go into premises, and loot‘
at the different men's businesses or possessions? A We
couldn't secure a warrant --

Q YNow just answer my question, if you_kno'? A Yes, 1 do
know. j

Q@ VNow did you have credentiale of any kind. lw bll;‘. g
anything of the kind? A It wasn't ﬁulury. ‘ _ ;‘ ';“

Q It wasn't? A  No, sir.
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Q@ In othes words, you could walk into any man's ma,
and say, "I come from the Trade Mark Protective &oioty."_"lnd_

take all the bottles off his shelves? A We never took nw

bottles, unless we had secured a warrant from & ngiltrlti.

Q How did you secure the evidence that enabled you to
get a warrant, if you didn't examine the bottles? A DO you '
want m to explain?

Q I do. And so does the twelfth juror? A How we se-
cured evidence?

Q I want to know how you got the evidence which got
you warrants from the Magistrate, if you say you didn't touch
the botties? A I said we didn't seize the bottles, until we

secured a warrant. .

Q Then how did you know whether or not the bottles had
been refilled? Tell us that; will you? A Yes, I will.

THE COURT: Is that necessary, Mr. Rosenthal?

MR. ROSENTHAL: Well I'1l tell you. It"- a question
of veracity here. I'm following up the statement of this
man that he worked for Ifour‘ months, when he only worked
for three weeks.

THE COURT: Well, it is purely a collateral -ttor.,.

MR, ROSENTHAL: Well, I'1ll stop here, just now:

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: ‘ | o

Q Weren't you discharged from the Trade Mark Roﬁltlly o

Bociety? A No, sir, I wasn't discharged-
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Q Well then, why did ysu leave? A Because they told
me they couldn't pay me $21. a week.

Q Yee? A As they had lost some of their clients.

Q Yes? A put they would hire and pof me at the same
rate, whenever they had worf.

Q Yes. Take your hand down now. = Now then we will just
leave that, for a minute. Did you ever work anywheres else
besides three years in one placeé and four months in another?
A Yes, sir.

Q Where was that? A Previous to that?

Q Yes? A In 1906, I was employed ==

Q Now wait a mimﬁte- We are talking about -- were you

unemployed at any time? A I have been unemployed sométime
in my career, yes.
. the

Q Now where did you work in 1906? A In/Pinkerten
Detective Agency.

Q For Pinkerton's? A Yes, sir.

Q Ag their office down in Broadway? - A 57 Broadway.

Q ;1:! Mr. Dougherty ‘the head of that firm? A I believe
he is now. :

Q VWVell, wasn't he at that time? A No, eir-l

Q Who was? A IMr. Thornhill.

Q@ Thornhill? A Yes, sir. '

Q How many weeks salary did you drai there? A I don't

remember nowe.




Q A year or two years? A It was lesgs than l' year.

B

Q Less than one yonr? A Yes, sir.

Q Well will you tell the jury about how many nouthlf'

A Y verket Fo bt about six or seven months.

Q And you received your salary for six or seven months;

is that right? A Yes, sir.

Q Wt else did you do? Did you work anywheres else?

A Yes sir.

Q Where was that? A I worked for B. Priestly & Company.

Q Who are they? A They- are ==

Q Whnen did you do that? A I started with them about
1899, about. I haven't looked it up. .

Q Well, that's 11 years ago; isn't 1t? A Well, I worked
right straight up to 1906. . :

Q Up to 1906? A Yes, sir. 7

Q Now where is Priestly & Company? A They were then
at 71 Grand street. They are now at 100 Fifth avenue.

Q What business are ihey in? A They are in the dress
goods business.

Q And you are positive that you worked for them three
vears straight? A I believe it's over seven years.

Q What did you do there? Clerk. A I started in as a
.atock boy. ; :

Q Y‘ea. A And worked ih mostly every department.

Q Did you work anywheres else in Brooklyn? A In Brook-



lyn?

Q Yes? A No, sir. On, yes, I aid.

Q Where did you work? A I worked at the noqron; luj.?

Q Yes, that's it. Now what is the Bedfora Rest? It's
a Baloon,k isn't 1t? A VWVell it's g cafe -~ .

q 'Oh, yes. A A restaurant, a cafe and a bowling alley.

Q And you were a waiter; weren't you? A Yes.

Q How long did you work there? A I worked there ==

Q@ You aint ashamed of it; are you? A Not at all.

Q That's right. Go on. Well, how long did you work
there? A I should say about six months.

Q Yes. That's in the Egstern Parkway; fen't it? fht'
is -~

- Q@ Bastern Parkway, isn't it? That's what they call it?

A Eastern Parkway and Bedford Avenue.
Q Yes, that's it. Now how did you come¢ to leave there?
A I quit.

0 At the end of the week or the middle of the week??

A I don't remember.
Q Why did you quit? A I had no more use to work there.
Q I beg your pardon? A I secured what evidence I vas

looking for.
Q Do you mean to tell us that you went there for |
dence; is that i1t? A Yes, sir.

Q Do you mean to tell us -- how long did y(\u'« .Qﬁ
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A 'A'b'out 8ix months.

Q Six months? A Yes, sir.

0 And it took you six months to get the ovidsnoOfiﬁhﬁ
you desired; didn't 1t? A I -- - | ] t ,?

Q@ UFNow put your hand down, you know. Didn't 1t? It to.ﬁﬁ

you six months? A Not on one case; no, sir. : ! .

Q But you were employed there for six months as a waiter
in the Bedford Rest; and do you mean to tell ue that you were
thére for the purpose of securing evidence; is that so? A Yes,

sir. .

Q And it took you the six months to get that ovidﬁncot ;

A -1 secured evidence for different cases.

Q Yes. What is the name of the man that employed you :

for the Bedford Rest? A The head waiter?

Ea e SN S

Q What is the name of the owner? A Mr. Hann, I think.

Q Oh, come, spell it? A Mr. Hann (The witness spells
the name).

Q He is the owner? A Yes, sir.

Q Who is the head waiter? A Now?

Q Yes? A I don't know.

Q If you know? A I don't know.

0 Who was at that time? A A reno.w by the name of
Matty.

Q Matty? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Do you know his last name? A I do not, sir.



Q And you worked with him six monthe? A No, he mn"t

there oontinuuny. He was there when I first went mro. 0“

then he was discharged and then he came back mta.
- Q@ Yes. And you don't know his last name? A No, sir. :
Q@ And never asked him his last name? , No, sir. ‘
‘ Q VYow didn't you work at the Sheepshead Bay Race Irnk,
in Brooklyn? A No, sir.
Q Didn't you ever testify that you did? A Did I ever
state that I have been at the track?
Q No. Didn't you say that you had been there, and was
employed there? A I said I had been there on detective work.
Q Did you ever work for anybody else? A (No answer)

Q@ Shall I enlighten you? Did you ever work for B.

Brazie & Company? A I never heard the name. The B. ?r_i..tly-
& Company, I guess you are fhinking of .
Q No, no. Did you ever work as an 1m¢_st1¢-tor rog":.
Brazie & Company? A I guess you mean B. Priestly & Ooﬁuw-
I did work for them as an investigator.
Q Who are they? A The same concern that I worked for,
for eight years.
Q@ You are positive you worked for them as an investigator,
after working with them for eight years? A I contimed om. -
Q As an investigator? A  After I'IOttVWG
Q Yes? A I went back to them as an SMIQWOO:

Q Who was your employer in Pinkerton's, Mr.ﬂ



A When I went there?

Q Yes? A Mr. Thornmhill.

Q And who did you work with while you were there? In
other words you worked in teams? A The operators?

Q Yes? A The man that broke me in was Mr. Kelly. He
isn't -~

Q Kelly? A Yes, sir.

Q Any question about that? A ‘Not a question.

Q How long did you work for Mr. Kelly? A I didn't

work for Mr. Kelly. You asked m® the man I worked with, and I
shid the man that broke me in was Mr. Kelly.

Q@ Yes. A He is now in charge of the detective forde
in Wannamaker's.

‘Q And who else besides the man thnt‘broh you 1.,'636
you work with as an operator? A 4 number of men. |

Q Tell me one case you were on for Pinkerton, on¢ case?
A It was mostly all shadow work.

Q Tell me the name of one case that you worked ::n. for
Pinkerton, bearing in mind that I will have' them here? A All
right, sir.

A THE COURT: Now, you need not threaten th’ witness.

MR. ROSENTHAL: No, sir, I'm not, but I'm just

telling him to be frank with me; that's all.

BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q Vow tell me one case? A There was, one time, a number
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Q In what year? A 1906. Ther was a number of animsls ‘
poisoned up An the Bromx Zoo. i Ll
Q | Yes. A And a man was suspected of poisoming these
naimals. ' -
Q Yes? A And I was sent up there to become aoiu.iu‘hd_ ..
with this man, to see if I could find out, or if he would tell
me if he poisoned these animals. il

Q Yes. Is that the only case that you worked for them?

A Yo. 1 worked in a number of cases.
Q VNow tell me any other case? :
MR. BUCKNER: I object, because it is mx utterly
immaterial, if your Honor please. \Q
MR. ROSENTHAL: Well, I will not ask him anything |
more about that. ;
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q You say you worked six or seven months for them?
A Yes, si‘r. ,
Q And you drew a weekly salary from them? A Yes, sir,
Q No question about it; is there? A No, sir.
Q ‘And Mr. Thornhill knows all about it; is that i
Q You are not a licensed dotolctivo; are yﬁ? A No,
sir. A
Q You know you can't give testimony as a h“!im! |

LG

unless you are a licensed detective; iln‘t thet u’ A
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you are working under a license which is held by another man.
Q@ And you are not doing that? Ao I don't know ﬁt

license SOcond Doputy Commissioner ¥dynn has.

Q Don't you know? .You spoke to Second Deputy Co-iuionir
Flynn a number of times; didn't you? A I made reports when-
ever I went in there. |

Q Yes. You were not born here; were you? A WNo, I
wasn't; no, sir.

0 Take your hand down. Where were you born? A I was
born in England.

Q In England? A Yes, sir.

Q@ And where did you live when you first came here? How
long have you been in America? A 23 years.

Q Yes. How old are you know? A 30.

Q 307 ‘A Yes, sir.

Q Did you ever testify that you worked for the Wine &
Spirits Traders Society, and did you say you go any slary fron
them? A I stated -- I testified I was paid $3 a day.

Q Did you ever testify as follows: "Q Do you have a
salary? A No, sir. Q You never got a salary from them?

A Yo, sir." Did you ever say that? A The Wine & Spirits
Traders Society you are talking about?

Q Yes? A' Yes.

Q Did you say that? A Yes, I did.

Q And did you work steady ror them all the t1-? A Not
all the time; no, sir.

Q How long and how many times did you work for them?
A I don't remenmber.

!




Q@ How long did you tell us on direct ox.tn;ttn you
worked for them? A A’Sout thrio years.

Q About three years? A Yes, sir. ] |

Q  Stesdy, you said, didn't you? Regularly smployed ?"“’:_
by them; didn't you? A About three years. | \

Q Yes. Did you ever testify that they hired you by
the day when they wanted you? A That's what I mean. They . | |
paid me three dollars a day, and I have been connected with |
them about three years. : B

Q Did you ever say: "Q How many times have yon'vork-
ed for them? A Jusgt as f;hoy wanted me ."? A Yes.

Q Now how did you get 1nrorn;tion that they wanted you?
A They would telephone me.

Q VWhat is their telephone? A 636.

Q 636 vhat? A Cortlandt.

Q Now you were with them three years? A About three
years.

Q Now I will read this questionm, and get this answer
from you: "Q That is to say, during the last three years
you have worked for them many times? A I don't know. Q About
how many? A I couldn't tell you. Q Have you worked oul
hundred times? A I haven't an idea, without looking it up.
Q Over five times? A Yes, sir. Q Over eight times?

A Yes, sir.” There you stopped. Now did you work for

them more than eight times? A Yes.




Q How many moxe? A ' I don't know, without 1% i‘ﬁ
Q  Where is the Trade Mark Protective Soolety? A "
Broad street. _

Q As a matter of fact, aren't they are 241 Broadway?
‘A No.

Q Vas this question ever asked you: "Q Did you work
for the Trade Mark Protective | Society, 241 Drow A No,
gir."? A The VWine and Spirits Traders Socilety is at 78 »
Broad street, and the Tr:‘ude Mark Protective Society was at 241

Broadway .

Q@ Did you ever gay that before this moment? A Yes.

Q When? In your testimony herel A When I was asked
the question. '

Q Will you tell us please--you say there were 25 men
around this crap table;  is that right? A About that; at
difforoht times. .

QR  And ihilg the 25 men were around the crap table, the
defendant you say was seated-~at the plade marked "Line"; 1is
that so? A Yes, sir. |

Q  And the other 25 were crowded around this table?

A Yes, sir. 4
R Pretty close? A Yes, sir.

Q@ YNow will you explain--or you did explain that yum

four and a half feet from the edge here (indicating)? A mﬁ
T



the defendant was oﬁnﬂin. (indicating)? A I umM
I marked the table bo;ora the p].v‘oturtod. ¢ . ‘

Q Oﬁ. no one was there? A Some one was in the NQ,
but not around the table. v
Q And although no o;xo was in the room or around the iq-' '

ble, rather, you went over there ahd marked that table? A I

had a small plece of indelible pencil, and I just strolled by

the table--

Q _And was it a small pilece of lead pencil?
MR. BUCKNER: If your Honor please, I object to the
counsel interrupting the witness. Finish your answer.
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
QR VYes. Finish it. Tell us how you marked it. Go
ahead. What kind of pem':u was 1t? A An indelible pencil.
Q Are you positive that it was indelible? A ﬁl, sir.
Q Now just come over here and tell us whether that isn't
ink, made with a pen, ;)n that (indicating)? A I marked it
with--
Q YNow just come over here and tell us whether that isn't
ink, black ink, and not from an indelible pencil. ’J'u-t. look
at it through this glass, and see if it isn't regular black
ink (indicating)? A That's indelible pencil.

it

Q VNow wait. Just go ahead. Now you know that yﬂl'-‘l Tl
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uurrod mark--we will assume that to make a blurun. uﬂ-

we will assume that it was indelible pencil--it must be ‘~,
amin ened; isn't that 807 A I spit on my finger. 1 i
Q Oh, you forgot to tell us that. Then you spit om

one finger, and took this indelible pencil with the other, and

' marked 1t; 1s that so? A I first spit on the finger, and o
then put it on the pencil, and marked the c.:rou with the in-
delible pencil.

Q@ And everything else that you have said to~day 2 is as
true as that?

MR. BUCKNER: Objected to.
THE COURT: Sustained .
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

Q@ And that is the statement that you meke for 'blm
able to get to that particular place, where this big, tall,
husky fellow was standing; isn't that lo?‘ A | I donft «tﬁ :
uriderstand the question. &

(Question repeated by the stenographer.)

A Vhat statement do you refer to?

Q That, while no one was at the table, you walked over
and marked the table? A Yes.

Q Now, if there was no one around the tgblo. m@t was
the necessity for your being so sly about it, taking a m
finger, if you had only to dampen the penmoil, if it was ﬁ M

delible pencil? A Becanso they might see me put Q/N




A A : 7n
in my mouth, but they wouldn't notice my finger.

Q An, that's it? Now you knew that it was necessary--
now this was the 13th day Qf December, is that so? A No, sir.

Q Well, what day was 1t? A The 15th.

Q The 15th day? A Yes, sir..

Q At 3 o'clock in the antornoon? ‘ A VWhen I first
went in there.

Q No. I am talking about December 15th, remember?
A Yes.

Q VWhen you marked that table, what time of the day or
night was 1it? A When I first went in?

Q What time of the day or night was it? A 1'11 tell
you, if you 1e't me look at my book. '

Q I will. Look at it. Yéu have worked at vnnom'r. ho~-
tel at Coney Island, haven't you? Y Qe ¢ vorkedﬂ it only ono.
hotel at Coney Island.

Q@ And that was the Vandaveer Hotel; wasn't it? A !o.--

Q@ VWhen did you work there? A Last summer.

Q Tor how long a time? A July and August.

Q@ And how much salary did you get there? A $35 a
month and tips.

| Q Fn? A Twenty-five a month and tips.

Q Did you work there steady? A In July and August;

yes. I ]

Q Ye .? A Yese.




Q@ Didn't quit? A No, sir. ;

Q@ You didn't work for any trade mark society or any
oiher society, did you, at that time? A Yes.

@ Oh, you were still working for them? A Yes, sir.

@ Is that right? A Yes, sir.

Q In other words, you were a nto&l-pi;oon, uttnptin.
to sell information, weren't you? A No, .1ur.

Q@ You say June and July of when, what year? A Last
year.

Q 19107 A Yes, sir.

Q@ It was Vanderveer's Hotel or house? A Yes.

Q@ Mr Shea was the boss? A Yes; Danny Shea.

Q Yes, Danny Shea? A Yes, sir.

Q Yes, that's right. Now why did you quit at the

busy month of July? A I didn't quit.

Q@ Did they discharge you? A No. He was sorry t‘o lose

Q How? A He was sorry to lose me.

Q@ VWas glad to get rid of you; wasn't yhe? A Y¥o, eir.

Q@ VWhere did you live while yofi worked at the Vanderveer

Hotel? At the hotel? A No, sir.
Q Just look up, will you please? That's rilght- Now
where did you live while you lived or worked there? A The

same address.

Q You were an investigator t.hero; you say, lo&u; ut‘.




to see whether they refilled any bottles? A No, they never
refilled any bottles there . ;

Q@ They were honeit'pooplc; weren't they? A !'qmiﬁ

Q@ Do you know what short change 18?7 A (No m-i!ql)~_“

Q Bh? A TI've heard such remarks passed; yes.

Q@ Do you know what -hort.chungc is smong wutorl?. A I
have heard about it; yes.

Q@ You never' saw it done, did you? A No, sir.

Q@ Tell us what it i8? A I don't know. I've heard
about it.

Q@ Tell us what it is, so that the twelfth juroer can
hear you, if you know vhat it ig? A I don't know.

Q Now where did you work in the Vanderveer Hotel? In
the summer garden, or in the rear, or in the center, 'hioh_ii
the main body of this hotel, on the ground floor? A They have
no summer garden. : V

Q Vell, tell us where you worked? A All over.

Q@ Now there is a little summer garden on the side of
that hotel--not on the Surf avenue side or the opoﬁ side--with
vines? A There is a versndah there. ‘

Q VNow didn't you work there? A I worked ﬁl 'mr the ¢
building . -
Q That's what I am talking about, that space with the

vines, the summer garden. There is a summer garden there, is

there not? A No, gir, there is a verandah.




Q VWell, what do you call it? A A-v'run‘dﬁ.'_
Q@ A verandeh? All right. Now you are positive tlliyn
didn't make any complaint against the Bedford Rest people; li. il
you? A Yo, sir. ;
Q@ You never made any complaint against t.hon ; ddd you‘?f
A No, sir. :
Q In other words, they were honest people, too; weren't
they? A Do I have to answer that question? ‘
MR . ROSENTHAL : Well, you can ask the Judge.
THE COURT: You may answer the question.
THR WITNESS: I would rather not answer that ques~
tion, your Honor.
BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
Q Have yadu.any evidence now against those people?
MR. BUCKNER: Well, I object t0 it now as entitely
immaterial.
THRE COURT: Sustained.
MR. ROSENTHAL: ' Exception. “

4

Q@ Vhat did you do for the Pinkerton's peopio at the race-
work at

track? A I didn't gmxktm the race track for Pinkertond'.
Q@ VWhat? A I didn't work at the race track for Pink-
erton's. ;

Q It was in 1906, wasn't 1t? A Yes; that I worked

)

for Pinkerton's.

Q@ And do you know what writing a sheet means? A Yes,
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sir.

Q@ What did you do in reference to sheet "‘riting at ftll-
ertons? A I didn't do anything. |

Q@ You know what sheet writing is, do you? ! R vouu4
know, if 1 saw a man acting as a sheet writer. »

Q@ Don't you know what sheet writing is? A Yes, I do
know vhat it is. : '

Q Vas this question ani:ed you: "Q (By the Court:)
What do you mean by sheet writing? A T don't know. I never
didgit.'? Do you remember that question and answer 'bolng

given to you? A Well, if it is there it must be true.

Q VWho went with you while on investigations for this
Protective Trade Mark Society? A On what occasion?

Q@ Who went with you? I repeat the question three times?
A On what occasion?

Q@ VWhile you were on those investigations? A Mr
Brand.

Q Now listen to this: "Q . Vho went with you on these
investigations? A The man is now dead. His name was Gaines"™?
A That was for the Trade Mark Protective Society. I thought
you referred to the Wine and Spirits Traders Society. The man
for the Trade Mark Protective Company is dead. But one of
the men that did the work is dead. But Mr Botler is alive.

Q Did you ever tell Mr Botler that you worked as a

sheet writer at the Sheepshead Bay Racetrack? A No, sir, 1
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Q Dia y;u ever write anonymous letters to the Trade Mark
Protective Society? A I never did, no, eir.

Q@ Are you positive of that? A Positive.

Q VWere you ever nocu;od of it? A No, pir. -

Q Are fou positive of that? A I am ponttﬁo-

Q Did you ever write them anonymous letters, telling
them that the law was being broken? A No, sir. It wuq't
necessary - ¥

Q VNow in a crap game, the raker, as we will call him--
the man who you say was the defendant--he don't play in the
game personally, does he” A No, sgir.

Q  Between you and the banker, isn't it, when you play, 7
ihon you shake the dice? A Yes. If I understand the ques~
tion right you mean--~ :

Q VWell, correct it, if I am not right? A That is, '
the raker has no money at stake.

Q And so that you, as well as he, could~-if you say it
was him--coukd have have thrown the dice back to the other
Player, as well as he could? A No, sir, I ooulﬁ't.

Q@ But it is always between the player and the banker,
or other players and the banker; isn't 1t? A The banker
or house is staking their money against the players' money. '

Q@ Now in your complaint, when you originally made it

against the defendant, you only accused him of him having, on
the 13th day of December, while in the premises 1642 Broadway,
of being there? VWhy didn't you accuse him of having played

on that day, or on any other day, I mean?
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A Tn the affidavit, that was all that was necessary .

Q No, T am talking uboué the examination. This is the

testimony in the Poli ce Court (indicatipg a transeript), only

it is long, instead of short. Didn't you accuse him of just,

on the 13th of December , having been a player there, or raker?
A No, sir.

Q Youhave testified to-day that you di dn't see him on the

12th of December whem you  were there? He might have been
there? ‘A T didn't notice him.

Q But this very small room that you have been telling us
about, and one table, amall affair; and di m'tbyou notice him?
That's true; is 1t°? A ‘ku, on the‘12th.

Q Well, there was a play thoro'; they were plmni craps
there? A No there was no play at that time.

Q What day of the week was the 12th? A Monday.

Q You are sure that there was no play there? A Yes, T

Q Can you tell me how many people were in there on the
12th? A At that moment, when I was taken in there to look
the place over, there was no play going on, and T was there

about three or four minutes.

Q You were there three orfour minutes? A Yes, s8ir.

0 And what di d you do after that? A Weat down~-
stairs.

Q Tnto the billiard parlor? A Yes, ‘lir‘.

Q Tt is a big, handsome place, with about eighteen big

e

Pr—




2

pool tables; isn't it? A Ouite a nice place, yop.

Q Have you ever been in a finer billiard parlor ﬂlll t“

place there in your whole 1ife? : ! 0 «
MR, BUCKER : Objected to, |
THE COURT: Sustained.
MR, ROSENTHAL: Exception.

BY MR, ROSENTHAL:

0 Yow, there is a bar there? A Yes, li‘r.'

Q 'And everything seems to be done in the mo st proper way,

in conformity with the law? A Yes.

Q And nothing wrong went on on that floor where the bil=
14 ard room was? A Yot that T saw. -
Q And you had your eye out, watch.ing'for ulwthin."r‘ﬂt; \
hadn't you? A Oh, yes. o
THE COURT: Do not dfscuss this case among yourselves,
* Gentlemen of the Jury, or permit any one %o talk with you
about it; nor form or express any opinion as to the guilt
or innocenoce c;f the defendant, until the case is finally
subnitted to you. ;
Refrain from reading any newspaper accountn conomin‘
this case; and, if any person attempts to speak to you,
cause his arrest, and notify the Court of such _fui. ‘
' You may go now until twelve o'clock tc-ior.rn. 5

all be seated until the jury ratire.

(After the jury had left the ooureqnon:) FL



MR. BUCKNER : T nowmove that the defendant be

commtted, if your Honor please.

THE COURT: Tn pursuance of section 422, the Court
will exercise 1ts di scretion, and the motion of the Die=
trict Attorney is granted, éompﬂt the defendant.

MR, ROSENTHAL: T would 1ike to talk with the defend~
ant, if your HOnor please, for a few minutes, lbouf. fi fteen
minutes, before he is taken down to the pen.‘

THE COURT: Yes. Allow counsel to confer with his

client.
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